

AFTERTHE BILL Resources for Recovery

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| IF YOU ARE NOT INSURED | 1 |
|---|----|
| IF YOU ARE INSURED | 2 |
| INSURANCE FOR THE MOBILE HOME OWNER | 3 |
| LOSS OF RESIDENCE USE AND ADDITIONAL LIVING EXPENSE | S3 |
| YOUR DUTIES AFTER A FIRE LOSS | 5 |
| VALUING YOUR PROPERTY | 7 |
| ADJUSTING THE LOSS | 9 |
| INVENTORYING THE DAMAGE | 10 |
| REPLACEMENT OF VALUABLE DOCUMENTS AND RECORDS | 11 |
| IN CASE OF PERSONAL INJURY | 13 |
| THE TOTAL COST OF THE FIRE | 13 |
| SALVAGE HINTS | 14 |
| FIRE DEPARTMENT OPERATIONS | 19 |
| DISASTER SERVICES | 21 |
| COMMON REACTIONS FOLLOWING A TRAUMATIC EVENT | 21 |
| TRAUMA ADVICE: | 22 |
| WHAT IS TRAUMA INTERVENTION PROGRAM (TIP) | 23 |

AFTER THE FIRE: WHAT TO CONSIDER

Recovering from a fire may take a long time and many of the tasks you have to do will be new to you. This booklet introduces some of the information you may need in the coming days.

IF YOU ARE NOT INSURED

If you are not insured, your recovery from a fire loss will be based upon your own resources and help from your community.

Private organizations that help with disaster relief include the American Red Cross and the Salvation Army. Your church or synagogue can put you in touch with your denomination's helping group. Local civic organizations such as Lions Clubs International and the Rotarians may be sources of aid.

Disaster relief services, both privately funded and government sponsored, usually work together to coordinate their services to those in need. For instance, Red Cross will refer clients to groups which have clothing and furnishings available, if these are needed.

Some state and local governments have emergency aid programs. Check with your state or municipal emergency services office or the state department of social services for information on what help is available.

(Some local phone numbers of organizations listed above are provided in the back of this booklet.)

Federal Income Tax Deductions

Losses due to fire are deductible from your federal income tax. Get receipts and keep records of the money you spend in repairing or replacing damaged property and in covering your living expenses during the loss recovery period. These records and receipts will be the basis for calculating the casualty loss on your income tax. If your loss in one year was larger than your income for that year, you may be entitled to a tax refund.

A quick refund (within 90 days of filing) is possible if you file Form 1045, Application for Tentative Refund, at the same time or in the same year as you file the yearly return. For example, if you have a loss in 2018 that qualifies you for a tax refund, you will file your yearly return between January 1, 2019 and April 15,

2019. The Application for Tentative Refund may accompany the yearly return or follow it any time up to December 31, 2019. You may not file for the tentative refund if you have not filed your yearly return.

Check Publication 547, <u>Tax Information on Disasters, Casualty Losses and Thefts</u>, available from the local Internal Revenue Service Office, for rules governing casualty losses or check with an accountant for guidance.

IF YOU ARE INSURED

Your insurance will be the most important single component in recovering from a fire loss. A homeowner's, tenant's or condominium owner's insurance policy is really a package of a number of coverages (see Chart 1 for a partial listing).

CHART 1
PROPERTY INSURANCE (Typical Coverages)

| Policy Type | Coverage A Amount on house and attached structures | Coverage B Amount on detached structures/f ences/pools | Coverage C Amount on per sonal property | Coverage D Loss of use, additional living expense | Additional Coverage amount on trees, shrubs, plants |
|------------------------|---|--|---|---|--|
| Basic (HO-1*) | Up to 100 % of replacement cost | 10% of amount on house | 50% of amount on house | 10% of amount on house | 5% of amount on house \$500 max per item |
| Broad (HO-2*) | Up to 100 % of replacement cost | 10% of amount on house | 50% of amount on house | 20% of amount on house | 5% of amount on house \$500 max per item |
| Special (HO-3*) | Up to 100 % of replacement cost | 10% of amount on house | 50% of amount on house | 20% of amount on house | 5% of amount on house \$500 max per item |
| Example | \$200,000 on house | \$20,000 on garage | \$100,000 furniture, etc | \$40,000 for rent, food, etc. | \$10,000 or \$5•0 per item |
| Renters (HO-4*) | Covers additions and alterations only, up to 10% of amount on personal property | (Not Applicable) | \$4,000 Mini mum | 20% of amount on personal property | 10% of amount on personal property; \$500 max per item |
| Example: | \$1,500 wallpaper room divider, etc. | Not your responsibility | \$15,000 | \$3,000 | \$1,500 balcony |
| Comprehensive (HO-5*) | Up to 100 % of replacement cost | 10% of amount on house | 50% of amount on house | 20% of amount on house | 5% of amount on house \$500 max per item |
| Condominium (HO-6*) | \$1,000 on additions and alterations | (Not Applicable) | \$4,000 Minimum | 40% of amount on per sonal property | 10% of amount on personal property; \$500 max per item |

^{*}HO-1 through HO-6 are the standard insurance references to policy types. Check the first page of your policy to determine which HO coverage you hold.

Standard forms are developed and then amended from state to state and from insurance company to insurance company. You will have to check your individual policy to see how yours varies from the standard forms we will be discussing.

The policy types (Basic, Broad, Renter's, Condominium and others) differ in the perils they insure against, but most cover loss through fire. And, of course, a renter's or tenant's policy will not cover losses to the overall structure. Condominium policies may cover the losses the condominium owner is assessed as a member of the ownership group. A Landlord's policy does not cover personal property of tenants.

Chart 1 displays the range of policy types; Coverages A through D, what is covered and the proportional amount of coverage.

Proportional amounts of coverage shown on Chart 1 are basic amounts or minimums. For all but Coverage **A**, the residential coverage, additional insurance amounts can be purchased to cover the true value of the item.

INSURANCE FOR THE MOBILE HOME OWNER

Mobile home insurance coverage is similar to other forms of homeowner coverage. The package policy covers fire loss to your dwelling, contents and detached structures, but provides a stated daily dollar amount for additional living expenses rather than a percent of the dwelling coverage. The amount of money you can receive on damage to the mobile home is limited by the actual cash value of the home at the time of loss; other forms of homeowner coverage insure residences for their replacement cost. Some mobile home policies include extended replacement cost which will pay a percentage (like 20%) above the dwelling amount if the home is replaced (with like-kind and quality). Example: 100,000 coverage A, extended will pay extra 25,000 to replace.

LOSS OF RESIDENCE USE AND ADDITIONAL LIVING EXPENSES

Insurance Coverage **D** is designed to help the owner or tenant pay for the extra costs, over and above normal living expenses, or having to live elsewhere while the dwelling is being repaired. It also enables the insured to maintain his or her customary standard of living in the interim.

A key point to understand about this coverage is that it pays for only those expenses you would not have had if a fire had not occurred. **YOU MUST KEEP RECEIPTS TO VERIFY ALL YOUR EXPENSES.**

An example may help illustrate how this coverage works*:

Example First-Month Expenses:

the apartment

You experience a serious fire in your home. You and your family cannot stay there for at least two months while repairs are being made. For the first week you stay in a motel, after which time you locate an apartment you can occupy on a month-to-month basis. During the first month you incur the following expenses:

Motel room at \$80 per day X seven day \$560
 Meals at restaurants for seven days \$300
 Security deposit on apartment \$850
 Apartment rent for one month \$850
 Connection charges for phone service at

6. Cost to stock up on basic items such as flour, salt, etc. \$65

\$55

- 7. Three weeks' groceries at \$80 per week \$240
- 8. Gasoline costs to drive your children to school because the temporary residence is out of their school district; \$30 per week for four weeks \$120

9. Three winter coats for family members whose coats were lost in the fire \$210

10. Mortgage payment for the month \$1200

Here is how to find which expenses are allowable under Coverage D and which are not.

According to Item 10, your monthly mortgage payment is \$1200. During the restoration period you must continue with your mortgage obligations, so you pay the bill. However you have lost the use of your home. Under the loss of use

^{*}The dollar amounts in this example and others throughout the pamphlet are used to illustrate functions and relationships. Actual living costs may vary by location and will change over time with the action of inflation.

provision, the insurer will pay your motel bill (Item 1), and your one month's rent (Item 4). Connection of a telephone at the temporary residence (Item 5) will be reimbursed as an additional living expense.

Under normal circumstances, your family pays \$80 per week for groceries. Your additional living expense coverage will pay the cost of food **over** the \$80 per week. Meals at a restaurant (Item 2) will be refunded to you at \$300 minus \$80 or \$220. Your basic grocery cost (Item 7) will not be refunded.

Gasoline cost to drive your children to school (Item 8) is an additional living cost because formerly they went by bus. This will be returned to you. Basic food stuffs (Item 6) and the three winter coats (Item 9) can be purchased out of the advance the insurer may make to you based on the final settlement. These items really are replacing items lost in the fire and are not "additional living expenses" as such. Their cost will be deducted from the final settlement.

The security deposit on the apartment (Item 3) can also be paid out of the insurer's advance. However, since the deposit will be refunded to you by the apartment owner when you leave, the \$850 will be deducted from the eventual insurance settlement.

Try to use your resources wisely during the recovery period. In setting up your temporary residence, keep in mind that the rental cost of furnishings for your temporary quarters is allowable as an additional living expense, but items you purchase may reduce your final settlement. Be sure to consult your insurance agent for the details of your policy coverage.

YOUR DUTIES AFTER A FIRE LOSS

Your insurance policy is a contract between you and the insurer. The insurer promises he will do certain things for you. In turn, you have certain obligations. Some of your duties after a fire loss are to:

- Give immediate notice of the loss to the insurance company or the insurer's agent.
- Protect the property from further damage by making reasonable repairs such as covering holes in the roof or walls. (Provided that the fire crew on the scene have finished with their investigation.)

Take reasonable precautions against loss, such as draining water lines in winter if the house will be unheated for some time. (The insurer can refuse to pay losses which occur from not taking such reasonable care.)

- ◆ To the best of your ability make an inventory of damaged personal property showing in detail the quantity, description, what you paid for the items when purchased, how long you have had the items, the amount of damage they sustained and how much it would cost to replace them. Include with the inventory any bills or documents which can help establish the item's value, if available. There is usually a time period that you must submit the inventory list or it will not be covered, typically 1 to 3 years.
- Cooperate with the insurer or his adjuster by exhibiting the damaged property. Submit to examination under oath if this becomes necessary.
- Submit within a stated time period (usually 30 to 60 days) a formal statement of loss. The statement of loss covers such items as:
 - The time and cause of loss.
 - The names and addresses of those who have an interest in the property. These might include the mortgage holder, a separated or divorced spouse, or a lien holder.
 - Building plans and specifications of the original home and a detailed estimate for repairs, if available.
 - The damaged inventory mentioned above (Usually you have 1 to 3 years).
 - Receipts for additional living expenses and loss of use claims. Keep everything, even if you don't think it will be covered, including a mileage log.

Besides your obligations to the insurer, you also have a responsibility to inform your mortgage company of the fire and to keep them informed of activities to restore the property. They "own" a portion of your dwelling and are interested in seeing their investment handled properly. They may have forms for you to fill out; they may want to inspect the property. Their name, with yours, will be on the face of the check to cover repairs to the structure. It is to your mutual advantage to work together at this time

VALUING YOUR PROPERTY

In adjusting your fire loss or in claiming a casualty loss on your federal income tax you will be brought face to face with different viewpoints on the value of your property. Many of the terms and concepts used in this process may be new to you. Let's introduce a few of the viewpoints and some of the terms you will encounter:

Your personal valuation: Your attachment to and personal valuation for your goods lost through fire cannot be measured, but can certainly be sympathized with. It will be said that personal items have a certain SENTIMENTAL VALUE. This term is not meant to belittle their value to you, but is used to separate feelings about value from objective measures of value. It is objective measures of value that you, the insurers and the Internal Revenue Service will use as a common ground for discussion. Some of these objective measures are discussed below.

Cost when purchased: This is an important element in establishing an item's final value. Receipts will help verify the cost price.

Fair market value before the fire: This concept is also expressed as ACTUAL CASH VALUE. This is what you could have gotten for the item if you had sold it the day before the fire. Its price would reflect its cost at purchase and the wear it had sustained since then. DEPRECIATION is the formal term to express the amount of value an item loses over a period of time.

Value after the fire: This is sometimes called the item's SALVAGE VALUE.

Cost to replace the item with a like (not identical) item: This is the item's REPLACEMENT COST.

ACTUAL CASH VALUE is the basis for most basic insurance agreements. That is, the insurer agrees to pay for the property you lose at its value on the day of its loss.

In most types of basic homeowner or some tenant policies, personal property such as furniture, appliances and personal effects will be valued on an ACTUAL CASH VALUE basis.

The standard homeowner's form covers buildings (your home and detached

structures) at REPLACEMENT COST without deduction for depreciation if you are 80% or more insured. If you are not 80% insured, they will pay the larger of either the ACTUAL CASH VALUE of the structural damage or the cost to replace the damage times your percentage insured.

Example:

You have a fire in an upstairs bedroom and the cost to repair the damage is estimated at \$10,000. Your home is valued at \$80,000. If you have insured for \$64,000 (80% of the value) or more on your dwelling, the insurer will pay the total cost of \$10,000.

If your insurance is \$48,000, the insurer will pay the larger of the following computations: \$10,000 times 60% (your percent insured) or \$6,000.

OR

The value of your home (\$80,000) times the area affected (1/6) times depreciation (your home is 10 years old; its life span is 20 years thus the figure is $\frac{1}{2}$) or \$80,000 X 1/6 X $\frac{1}{2}$ = \$6,680. Thus the insurer will pay your \$6,680.

It is common for Preferred Insurance Policies to include replacement cost insurance on homeowner, tenant and condominium policies. This provides that personal property and contents are reimbursed at the full cost to repair or replace them. Insurers reserve the right on larger losses to pay only the actual cash value until you prove that the item has, in fact, been replaced. This means that you cannot collect the **replacement cost** of a new TV and use the money to buy a new stereo (or in any other way you wish).

And finally, concerning your overall insurance policy, although these may seem elementary:

You cannot collect more for a loss than it costs to replace the damaged property; and

You cannot collect more money on a loss than the amount for which you are insured.

ADJUSTING THE LOSS

Loss adjustment is the process of establishing the value of the damaged property. This is the result of a joint effort among a number of parties. Basic parties to the process are the owner or occupant and the insurance company and its representatives.

The owner or occupant is bound by the insurance contract to prepare an inventory and cooperate in the loss valuation process. The insurance company provides the loss or claim adjuster. The insurer may send an adjuster who is a permanent member of the insurer's staff, or the company may hire an "independent" adjuster to act in its behalf. (The independent adjuster is paid on the basis of his time and costs. The amount of your settlement will not affect his income.) It is the insurance adjuster's job, as a representative of the insurance company, to monitor and assist in the loss valuation process and to bring the loss to a just and equitable settlement.

Either you or the insurer may hire the services of a fire damage restoration firm or fire damage service company. These firms provide a range of services that may include some or all of the following:

- securing the site against further damage;
- estimating structural damage;
- repairing structural damage;
- > estimating the cost to repair or renew items of personal property;
- packing, transportation and storage of household items;
- > securing appropriate cleaning or repair subcontractors; and
- storing repaired items until needed.

The cost of the firm's services is the sum of all expenses incurred plus a percentage fee.

It is important to coordinate with the insurance adjuster before contracting for any services. You may invade the insurer's responsibility area by contracting without

its knowledge or consent. And this may leave you with bills to pay that otherwise would have been covered by the insurer.

A general contractor may be needed to estimate the cost to repair structural damage. The estimating contractor may or may not be the executing contractor. The insurance company may send a contractor to estimate the work. However, you may select and pay your own contractor if you want an independent estimate.

It is important to pick a contractor familiar with insurance companies' estimating requirements. These are more detailed and specific than may be encountered in the normal course of a contractor's business. The insurers will require a written, itemized statement of all work to be performed, the cost of the work, and interim and final completion dates. It is also in your best interest that work, costs, and dates be formally spelled out. Ask for your insurer's confirmation in writing that additional living expenses will be covered if there is a delay in construction process.

Finally, the owner may exercise the option to hire and pay a public adjuster to act in the owner's behalf in settling the loss with the insurance company. The public adjuster will work with the owner and the insurance adjuster to prepare the inventory and establish the value of the loss. The public adjuster's fee for services is a percent of the total insurance settlement, including additional living expense claims.

INVENTORYING THE DAMAGE

Most insured individuals are requested by their agent to make a pre-fire household inventory. Almost no one does. A pre-fire inventory, or even photographs taken before the fire, can help immeasurably in the claim estimating procedure.

You may find the inventory process difficult and upsetting. However, try to take the time necessary to assure that the inventory and estimate are complete. You may want to go over the damaged area more than once. But it is also important to avoid unnecessary delay. Water-soaked furniture may swell. Sooted rugs and drapes may prove more difficult to clean with the passage of time. Mildew may develop on damp items. Timely action works to reduce additional loss.

Some people have found it helpful to use a voice recording device to create the basic list of items for the inventory. Your insurance agent or adjuster may have inventory forms that can help you organize the job. Many insurance companies offer an on-line inventory application or website for your convenience to speed up the process. Photographs may prove valuable in recording specific damage.

Next comes the task of valuing the loss. This will be on an actual cash value or replacement cost basis, depending on your policy. Receipts are helpful in establishing each item's original value. Insurers understand that in most cases people cannot provide receipts for all the damaged items; such evidence may even have been destroyed in the fire. Nonetheless, the insurer and insured must come to an agreement about the value of damaged articles. If this cannot be arrived at in the loss adjustment process, provision is made in the policy for the appraisal of goods and the arbitration of differences.

Some insurance policies give the insurer the option to repair or replace an item, whichever is less. Other policies give the option to the owner. In either case, when the dollar value of the property has been transferred to the owner, the property belongs to the insurer and may be disposed of by the company for its salvage value.

Once the proof of loss statement has been submitted to the insurer (you will have between 30 and 60 days in which to do this), your claim has been established. If there are no appraisals outstanding, the insurer has up to 60 days (it may vary from state to state) in which to pay the claim. Some elements of your total claim may drag on longer. For instance, progress payments will be arranged with the contractor for major reconstruction work; your additional living expense claims may stretch out until you occupy the permanent dwelling. In some cases, your cashing of the payment check indicates your agreement with that portion of the settlement. If you plan to challenge any part or portion of the payment, obtain a statement in writing from the adjuster before cashing the check or you may forfeit the opportunity to disagree with the amount stated.

REPLACEMENT OF VALUABLE DOCUMENTS AND RECORDS

Here's a check list of documents you will need to replace if they have been destroyed and who to contact for information on the replacement process.

| ITEM | WHO TO CONTACT |
|-------------------------------------|---|
| Driver's license | Department of Motor Vehicles |
| Bank books/records | Your bank |
| Insurance policies | Insurance agent or company |
| Military discharge papers | Veterans Administration |
| Passports | County Clerk |
| Birth, death, marriage certificates | State Bureau of Records in the original state of birth, death or marriage or County of fice |
| Divorce papers | Court where decree was issued |
| Social Security or Medicare cards | Social Security Office |
| Credit cards | The issuing companies |
| Titles to deeds | Records department of city or county in which the property is located |
| Stocks and bonds | Issuing company or your broker |
| Wills | Your lawyer |
| Medicines | Your pharmacy |
| Medical records | Your doctor |
| Warranties | Issuing company |
| Income tax records | IRS Center where filed or your accountant |
| Auto registration title cards | Department of Motor Vehicles |
| Citizenship papers | US Immigration and Naturalization Service |
| Prepaid burial contracts | Issuing company |
| Animal registration papers | Society of registry |

Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC) and Welfare clients should notify their caseworkers if their identification cards for check cashing, their medical aid, or food stamp cards have been destroyed.

IN CASE OF PERSONAL INJURY

In the event that you, a friend, or member of your family is injured as a result of the fire, you should follow certain procedures if the injury required more than immediate first aid. Contact your employer if you have a company health insurance policy or your insurance company or agent if it is your personal policy. Portions of homeowner package policies provide limited medical coverage for persons who are injured on your property and are not members of your immediate family. A package homeowner policy may also cover you for any liability suits brought against you as a result of the fire. Contact your agent for more information.

In the event of a short or long-term disability resulting from the fire, contact your employer, personnel department and insurance representative to find out if you have disability coverage, the terms of coverage and the benefits available to you. Some states provide benefits which supplement private insurance coverage. Social Security provides benefits to those suffering long-term disabilities.

THE TOTAL COST OF THE FIRE

The total financial effects of a fire are far-reaching. There are the obvious financial losses of the damaged structure and contents. These are formally called the direct fire losses. There are the less obvious financial effects such as the cost of temporary living arrangements, or lost income due to time lost from your job.

These are called the indirect fire losses. Both direct and indirect fire losses may be covered by insurance. Some, if not all, of your damaged property (the direct fired loss) will be covered. The extent will depend on the type and amount of the insurance policy and the scope of coverage. Also, a portion of extra living and medical expenses (indirect fire losses) may be covered by homeowner and medical insurances. Lost work time cannot be insured against but the financial effect may be lessened by applying sick leave or vacation time to missed hours or days. In short, the effects of a fire will most likely cause you out-of-pocket expense.

Some of the expense not reimbursed by insurers may be deductible on your federal income tax return. For instance, portions of the actual cash value of a loss that are not reimbursed by the insurers (as might happen in a case where you did not comply with the 80% coverage rule) are deductible after the first \$100. This may be further reduced by a limitation associated with adjusted gross income. Also, monies you collect as part of disaster relief services or that are reimbursed by the insurers as additional living expenses are not added to your income (and therefore not taxed). Expenses and lost value due to damage must be documented by receipts and appraisals. Casualty loss rules can be complicated. Therefore, IRS Publication 547, the IRS information service or an accountant should be contacted for the details you will need. Contact your local IRS office for specific information.

Recovery from a fire loss may result in financial gains in some portions of the recovery picture. A gain may result when structures or contents are covered for replacement cost. When these buildings or possessions are in fact replaced, it is likely that their current value will be greater than their depreciated value at the time of the fire. For instance, the total or near-total rebuilding of a 10 year old home with a replacement cost of \$200,000 gives the owner an \$200,000 home current to that time's value. Immediately previous to the fire, the same home may have had depreciated value of \$170,000.

However, few if any owners ever realize an overall gain from a fire. Indeed, if they did, this would undermine the basic insurance agreement. Gains realized in any one aspect of a loss are usually offset by losses not insured against or not fully reimbursed in other areas.

SALVAGE HINTS

A word of caution before you begin. Several of the cleaning mixtures described in this section contain the substance Tri-Sodium Phosphate. (This can be purchased in your hardware store under the brand names TSP and Oakite.) Tri-Sodium Phosphate is a caustic substance used commonly as a cleaning agent. It should be used with care and stored out of reach of children and pets. Wear rubber gloves when using if you have tender skin. Read the label for further information.

Clothing

Smoke odor and soot can sometimes be washed from clothing. The following formula will often work for clothing that can be bleached:

4-6 tbsp. Tri-Sodium Phosphate1 cup Lysol or any household chlorine bleach

1 gallon warm water

Mix well, add clothes, rinse with clear water.

Dry well

To remove mildew, wash the fresh stain with soap and warm water. Then rinse and dry in sun. If the stain has not disappeared, use lemon juice and salt, or a diluted solution of household chlorine bleach. <u>Test colored garments before using any treatment.</u>

If you are taking woolen, silk, or rayon garments to the cleaners, first remove trimmings, shoulder pads, etc. Then, if the garment is damp or wet, dry it in a well-ventilated area. Shake and brush well, and take the garment to the cleaners as soon as possible.

Cooking Utensils

Your pots, pans, flatware, etc., should be washed with soapy water, rinsed, and then polished with a fine-powdered cleaner. You can polish copper and brass with special polish, salt sprinkled on a piece of lemon, or salt sprinkled on a cloth saturated with vinegar.

Electrical Appliances

Don't use appliances that have been exposed to water or steam until you have a service representative check them. This is especially true of electrical appliances. In addition, steam can remove the lubricant from some moving parts.

If the fire department turned off your gas or power during the fire, call the electric or gas company to restore these services -- do not try to do it yourself.

Food

Wash your canned goods in detergent and water. Do the same for food in jars. If labels come off, be sure you mark the contents on the can or jar with a grease pencil. Do not use canned goods when cans have bulged

or are dented or rusted.

If your home freezer has stopped running, you can still save the frozen food.

Keep the freezer closed. Your freezer has enough insulation to keep food frozen for at least one day - perhaps for as many as two or three days.

Move your food to a neighbor's freezer or a rented locker. Wrap the frozen food in newspapers and blankets, or use insulated boxes.

Do not re-freeze food that has thawed.

To remove odor from your refrigerator or freezer, wash the inside with a solution of baking soda and water, or use one cup of vinegar or household ammonia to one gallon of water. Some baking soda in an open container, or a piece of charcoal can be placed in the refrigerator or freezer to absorb odor.

Flooring and Rugs

When water gets underneath linoleum, it can cause odors and warp the wood floor. If this happens, remove the entire sheet. If the linoleum is brittle, a heat lamp will soften it so it can be rolled up without braking. If carefully removed, it can be re-cemented after the floor has completely dried. Small blisters in linoleum can be punctured with a nail and recemented if you are careful. Dilute regular linoleum paste thin enough to go through a hand syringe and shoot adhesive through the nail hole. Weigh down the linoleum with bricks or boards.

It is usually possible to cement loose tiles of any type. Wait until the floor is completely dry before beginning.

Rugs and carpets should also be allowed to dry thoroughly. Throw rugs can then be cleaned by beating, sweeping, or vacuuming, and then shampooed. Rugs should be dried as quickly as possible - lay them flat, and expose them to a circulation of warm, dry air. A fan turned on the rugs will speed drying. Make sure the rugs are thoroughly dry. Even though the surface seems dry, moisture remaining at the base of the tufts can quickly rot a rug. For information on cleaning and preserving carpets, call your carpet dealer or installer or qualified carpet cleaning professional.

Mattresses

Reconditioning an innerspring mattress at home is very difficult, if not impossible. Your mattress may be able to be renovated by a company that builds or repairs mattresses. If you must use your mattress temporarily, put it out into the sun to dry. Then cover it with rubber or plastic sheeting. It is almost impossible to get smoke odor out of pillows. The feathers and foam retain the odor.

Leather and Books

Wipe leather goods with a damp cloth, then dry cloth. Stuff purses and shoes with newspapers to retain shape. Leave suitcases open. Leather goods should be dried away from heat and sun. When leather goods are dry, clean with saddle soap. You can use steel wool or a suede brush on suede. Rinse leather and suede jackets in cold water and dry away from heat and sun.

Wet books must be taken care of as soon as possible. The best method to save wet books is to freeze them in a vacuum freezer. This special freezer will remove the moisture without damaging the pages.

If there will be a delay in locating such a freezer, place them in a normal freezer until a vacuum freezer can be located.

A local librarian can also be a good resource.

Locks and Hinges

Locks (especially iron locks) should be taken apart, wiped with keroseene, and oiled. If locks cannot be removed, squirt machine oil through a bolt opening or keyhole, and work the knob to distribute the oil. Hinges should be thoroughly cleaned and oiled.

Walls and Furniture

To remove soot and smoke from walls, furniture and floors, do the following:

Mix together:

4-6 tbsp. Tri-Sodium Phosphate 1 cup Lysol or any chloride bleach 1 gallon warm water Wear rubber gloves when cleaning. After washing article, rinse with clear warm water, and dry thoroughly.

Walls may be washed down while wet. Use a mild soap or detergent. Wash a small area at one time, working from the floor up. Then rinse the wall with clear water immediately. Ceilings should be washed last. Do not repaint until walls and ceilings are completely dry.

Your wallpaper can also be repaired. Use a commercial paste to repast loose edges or section. Contact your wallpaper dealer or installer for information on wallpaper cleaners. Washable wallpaper can be washed like an ordinary wall, but care must be taken not to soak the paper. Work from bottom to top to prevent streaking.

Wood furniture or fixtures can be treated in the following way:

DO NOT DRY YOUR FURNITURE IN THE SUN. The wood will warp and twist out of shape.

- Clear off mud or dirt.
- Remove drawers. Let them dry thoroughly so there will be no sticking when you replace them.
- Scrub with stiff brush and a cleaning solution.
- Wet wood can decay and mold, so dry thoroughly. Open doors and windows for good ventilation. Turn on your furnace or air conditioner, if necessary.
- If mold forms, wipe the wood with a cloth soaked in mixture of water or borax dissolved in hot water.
- ❖ To remove white spots or film, rub the wood surface with a cloth soaked in a solution of ½ cup household ammonia and ½ cup water. Then wipe dry and polish with wax, or rub the surface with a cloth soaked in a solution of ½ cup turpentine and ½ cup linseed oil. Be careful turpentine is combustible.
- ❖ You can also rub the wood surface with a 4/0 steel wool pad dripped in liquid polishing wax, wipe with a soft cloth and then buff.

Money Replacement

Handle burned money as little as possible. Attempt to encase each bill or portion of a bill in plastic wrap for preservation. If money is only half-burned or less (if half or more of the bill is intact), you can take the remainder to your local Federal Reserve Bank for replacement. Ask your personal bank for the nearest one. Or you can mail the burned or torn money via FIRST CLASS REGISTERED MAIL TO:

Department of Treasury
Bureau of Engraving and Printing – OCS
14 & C Streets, SW
Washington, DC 20228
(800) 829–1040 – Individuals
(800) 829–4933 – Businesses

Mutilated or melted coins can be taken to the Federal Reserve Bank, or mailed via FIRST CLASS REGISTERED MAIL to:

Superintendent
US Mint
P.O. Box 400
Philadelphia, PA 19105
(202) 354-776 0
mutilatedcoin@usmint.treas.gov

If your U.S. Savings Bonds have been mutilated or destroyed, email:

treasurydirect.com home.treasury.gov

Include name(s) and address(es) on bonds, approximate date or time period when purchased, denominations and approximate number of each. Replacement Form PDF 104 8 – Don't sign until you take to the bank to verify your identity and certify your signature.

FIRE DEPARTMENT OPERATIONS

Common questions people have about Fire Department operations.

FIRE PERSONNEL IDENTIFICATION:

Chief Officers: White helmet

Captain: Red helmet

Firefighters: Yellow helmet

Apparatus Operator: The engineer at the control panels located in

the middle of the truck.

WHO IS IN CHARGE AT A FIRE SCENE?

Captain or Chief Officer

WHY ARE WINDOWS BROKEN OR HOLES CUT IN THE ROOF?

As a fire burns, it moves upward then outward. Breaking the windows and/or cutting holes in the roof (called ventilation) stops that damaging outward movement and enables fire fighters to fight the fire more efficiently, resulting in less damage to the structure in the long run.

WHY DOES THE FIRE DEPARTMENT RESPOND TO MEDICAL EMERGENCIES WHEN THERE IS NO FIRE?

Many departments train fire fighters in emergency medicine. This allows faster response to an emergency, better use of personnel, and most importantly, expeditious care to patients. This allows the nearest engine to quickly respond to a medical emergency.

WHY ARE HOLES CUT IN WALLS AND CEILING?

This is done so that the fire department is absolutely sure that the fire is completely out, and that there is no fire inside the walls or other hidden places.

IT SEEMED LIKE THE FIRE DEPARTMENT TOOK SO LONG TO GET HERE.

When we are traumatized, our perception of time is distorted, making it seem longer than it really was. However, the dispatch center that received the "911" emergency call records all times pertaining to the incident. The fire department can get this information for you.

IS IT POSSIBLE TO OBTAIN A COPY OF THE FIRE REPORT?

In most localities, a fire report is a public document and is available from the fire marshall at your local fire department.

For more information about this, or other U.S. Fire Administration Programs, please contact:

California Governors Office of Emergency Services 3650 Schriever Ave.

Mather, CA 95655-4203
(916) 845-8510
www.oes.ca.gov/

DISASTER SERVICES

American Red Cross

2125 East Onstott Frontage Road Yuba City, CA 95991 24-hours: (530) 673-1460

Salvation Army Yuba-Sutter Core Family Store & Donations 900 F Street Marysville, CA 95901

401 Del Norte Ave. Yuba City, CA 95991 (530) 216-4530 yubasutter.salvationarmy.org

COMMON REACTIONS FOLLOWING A TRAUMATIC EVENT

Emergency service providers, as well as citizens, can experience the following symptoms following a crisis event. In a crisis situation, one may experience emotional detachment in order to cope and function. The following reactions may occur hours, days, weeks, or months after an event.

PHYSICAL

Stomach problems/indigestion
Headaches
Chest pains
Elevated blood pressure
Hyperalertness/easily startled
Difficulty breathing

BEHAVIORAL

Impulsive
Excessive risk taking
Silent/withdrawn
Sleep disturbance/nightmares
Change in personal or work habits

EMOTIONAL

Irritability/anger
Preoccupation with the event
and one's role in it
Depression
Guilt
Anxiety
Emotional numbness

COGNITIVE

Poor concentration
Difficulty in decision making
Difficulty with details
Memory problems

TRAUMA ADVICE:

- 1. Accept all of the feelings you are having as normal reactions to an extraordinary event. You are not "crazy." You are reacting normally to a "crazy" event. Be patient with yourself. It takes time to recover emotionally from a traumatic event.
- 2. Accept the fact that you have been a victim, and accept the feelings that result. Remember: others may not validate your feelings. In fact, they may minimize your experience: "You were only a witness," or "You were really lucky," or "It's been two weeks, why are you still bothered?"
- 3. Don't revert to alcohol, drugs, or overeating to cope. They will only make matters worse.
- 4. Maintain normalcy. Go about your daily routines and take care of business.
- 5. Attempt to understand what happened by getting the facts.
- 6. Ventilate: Talk about the event and write about it.
- 7. Combat any guilt you might have by:
 - Accepting it as normal.
 - Talking to others about your role and their role during the event. You are probably not alone in your reaction to this event.
 - Realizing you were a victim yourself and not a trained rescuer.

- Recognizing what you "did right."
- Recognizing the extenuating circumstances related to the event: suddenness, danger, etc.
- 8. Help each other:
 - Reach out to support those who are particularly traumatized.
 - Respect each other's way of coping. Don't victimize them by judging their individual coping style. Let the "grievers" grieve and allow the "doers" to do.
- 9. For more help see whentragedystrikes.org

WHAT IS TRAUMA INTERVENTION PROGRAM (TIP):

"AFTER THE FIRE" is provided to you by Trauma Intervention Program (TIP) of Yuba-Sutter Counties. TIP is a non-profit organization comprised of volunteers serving their fellow citizens following a traumatic experience. For further information regarding TIP: P.O. Box 645, Marysville, CA 95901, or call (530) 673-9300. Visit our website at yubasuttertip.org and on Facebook - Yuba Sutter Trauma Intervention Program (TIP).

SPECIAL THANKS:

Many thanks to Sandy Barnes, Karen Mullin and Robbie Mitchell for editing and Maggie Capitano Insurance (530) 743-1510 for insurance consultation.



Dec 2018

TIP of Yuba/Sutter Counties

"citizens helping citizens in crisis"

PO Box 645 Marysville, CA 95901 530-673-9300